## Škoda Auto Vysoká škola o.p.s.

Course: B0413P050002 Business Administration

Field of study/specialisation: 6208R186 Business Administration and Operations, Logistics and Quality Management

## Specific requirements for the skills of a quality department worker in business practice-need analysis for the 21st century Bachelor Thesis

Ivan Popov

Thesis Supervisor: Mgr. Lenka Stejskalová, MBA Date of entry:

Date of submission:

Electronically approved: 10. 5. 2023 Ivan Popov Author of thesis

Electronically approved: 11. 5. 2023 doc. Ing. Jan Fábry, Ph.D. Study track supervisor December 2022

December 2023

Electronically approved: 10. 5. 2023 Mgr. Lenka Stejskalová, MBA Thesis supervisor

Electronically approved: 11. 5. 2023 doc. Ing. Pavel Mertlík, CSc. Rector ŠAUni I declare that I have prepared this thesis on my own and listed all the sources used in the bibliography. I declare that, while preparing the thesis, I followed the internal regulation of Škoda Auto Vysoká škola o.p.s. (hereinafter referred to as ŠAVŠ), directive Thesis guidelines. I hereby declare that I have used the AI tools in compliance with the principles of academic integrity and that I have appropriately referenced the use of such tools in my thesis.

I am aware that this thesis is covered by Act No. 121/2000 Coll., the Copyright Act, that it is schoolwork within the meaning of Section 60 and that under Section 35 (3) ŠAVŠ is entitled to use my thesis for educational purposes or internal requirements. I agree with my thesis being published in accordance with Section 47b of Act No. 111/1998 Coll., on Higher Education Institutions.

I understand that ŠAVŠ has the right to enter into a licence agreement for this work under standard conditions. If I use this thesis or grant a licence for its use, I agree to inform ŠAVŠ about it. In this case, ŠAVŠ is entitled to demand a contribution to cover the costs incurred in the creation of this work up to their actual amount. Mladá Boleslav, December 5th 2023

I would like to thank Mgr. Lenka Stejskalová, MBA. for her professional supervision of my thesis, advice and information.

### Contents

Introduction
1 Theoretical Basis of Quality Management and its Importance in the 21st-Century Business Environment
1.1 Priof history of quality management evolution
1.2 Pole and significance of quality management in the contemporary digital
1.2 Note and significance of quality management in the contemporary, digital,
1.2 Clabelization in flyance on guality standards and enauing implications for
1.3 Globalization's influence on quality standards and ensuing implications for
DUSINESSES
2. Overview of the Roles and Responsibilities of Quality Department Workers
Across Industries
2.1 Contrasting Roles in Selected Diverse Sectors: Manufacturing, Services,
and IT
2.2 Examination of Typical Responsibilities and KPIs14
2.3 Interdisciplinary Knowledge Necessity14
3. Identification of Essential Skills for Quality Department Workers in the 21st
Century16
3.1 Technical skills16
3.2 Soft Skills17
3.3 Transferable Skills
3.4 Emphasizing the Paramountcy of Adaptability and Continuous Learning18
4. Analysis of the Present Skill Sets of Quality Department Workers and
Identification of Skill Gaps20
4.1 Presentation of findings from surveys, interviews, or other available data21
4.2 Skill gaps as noted by industry mavens and experts21
4.3 Examining the criticality of mitigating these skill gaps for ensuring business
growth and competitiveness22
5. Case Studies: Successful Quality Management Practices and the Role of
Quality Department Workers in Ensuring Business Success
5.1 In-depth analysis of 3 organizations from varied industries

5.2 Exploration of their quality management practices, skill set of their quality
department workers, and the outcomes24
5.3 Deriving Applicable Lessons and Insights26
6. Recommendations for Skill Development and Training Programs for Quality
Department Workers
6.1 Proposing Tailored Training Programs Aimed at Mitigating the Identified Skill
Gaps
6.2 Underscoring the Need for Persistent Upskilling and Reskilling Initiatives31
6.3 Highlighting the Pivotal Role of HR in Initiating and Managing Skill
Development Initiatives32
7. Conclusion: Significance of Persistent Skill Development for Quality
Department Workers
7.1 Recapping the Transforming Business Landscape and the Consequent
Evolution of the Roles of Quality Department Workers
7.2 Stressing the Imperativeness of Ongoing Skill Development, Adaptability,
and Future Readiness
7.3 A Conclusive Call to Action for Businesses, Educational Institutions, and
Individuals to Accord Priority to Skill Development within Quality Management 36
Bibliography
List of figures and tables

.

#### List of abbreviations and symbols

- QDW Quality Department Worker
- TQM Total Quality Management
- KPI Key Performance Indicators
- AI Artificial Intelligence
- BCG Boston Consulting Group
- WTO World Trade Organization
- CI/CD Continuous Integration / Continuous Delivery

#### Introduction

In an era characterized by rapid technological advancements and shifting global business paradigms, the role of Quality Department Workers (QDWs) has evolved dramatically. This thesis, entitled "Specific Requirements for the Skills of a Quality Department Worker in Business Practice - Need Analysis for the 21st Century", embarks on a comprehensive exploration to unravel and understand the complexities of this evolution. It examines the intersection of quality management, skills requirements, and the changing business landscape, aiming to offer a nuanced perspective on the contemporary and future demands placed on QDWs.

The journey begins with a foundational understanding of quality management, tracing its history and contemporary relevance in a digital, globalized world. An examination of the varied roles and responsibilities of QDWs across industries such as manufacturing, services, and IT reveals the diverse skill sets required in each sector. Significant emphasis is placed on the identification of essential skills for QDWs in the 21st century, delving into technical skills like Six Sigma and data analytics, soft skills including communication and problem-solving, and crucial transferable skills such as project management and leadership.

The thesis then presents an in-depth analysis of current skill sets, identifying gaps and examining their implications for business growth and competitiveness. Case studies from leading organizations provide insights into successful quality management practices and the crucial role played by skilled QDWs in achieving business success. Building on these insights, the thesis proposes tailored recommendations for skills development and training programs, emphasizing the critical role of human resources in fostering a culture of continuous learning and adaptability.

The author has used OpenAI's GPT-4 language model; https://chat.openai.com/ in the preparation of the following thesis for the following purpose: the summarization of literature and case studies relevant to the research. After using the aforementioned tool, the author has reviewed the content and takes full responsibility.

9

## 1 Theoretical Basis of Quality Management and its Importance in the 21st-Century Business Environment

The term "quality" is described by Armstrong & Taylor (2020) as multifaceted, often perceived differently based on context, yet it universally represents a measure of excellence or a state of being free from defects, deficiencies, and significant variations. Rooted in Latin, the word "qualitas" conveys the nature or characteristic of something. In the business realm, "quality" transcends mere product specifications or service delivery; it encompasses the entirety of the customer experience and the value delivered to them.

#### 1.1 Brief history of quality management evolution.

The origins of quality management can be traced back to the early days of manufacturing. As emphasized by Evans & Lindsay (2020) - craftsmen during medieval times took pride in their work and formed guilds to ensure the quality of the goods they produced. However, it was not until the Industrial Revolution that formal quality control processes began to take shape. The mass production model necessitated checks to ensure consistency and adherence to standards.

The early 20th century witnessed the emergence of pioneers like Frederick Taylor and W. Edwards Deming, who emphasized scientific management principles and statistical process control, respectively. Taylor's principles laid the foundation for standardized work processes, while Deming's focus on continuous improvement and the use of data-driven decision-making became cornerstones for modern quality management (Evans & Lindsay, 2020).

Post World War II, Japan became a significant adopter of quality management principles. The described by Evans & Lindsay (2020) collaboration between Japanese industrialists and experts like Deming and Joseph Juran led to the development of Total Quality Management (TQM) practices, which emphasized customer satisfaction, continuous improvement, and employee involvement.

The latter half of the 20th century saw the rise of quality standards and certifications, such as ISO 9001, which provided a framework for organizations to ensure quality consistency across the globe. The shift towards a digital, customer-focused

business environment in the 21st century has further emphasized the need for robust quality management systems. The digital transformation has enabled realtime quality monitoring and data analytics, enhancing the ability of businesses to anticipate and meet customer demands (World Economic Forum, 2020).

## 1.2 Role and significance of quality management in the contemporary, digital, and customer-focused business environment.

In the age of digital transformation, quality management plays a pivotal role in ensuring business success. The ubiquity of technology and the rise of the internet have reshaped customer expectations, making quality a non-negotiable aspect of business operations. Evans and Lindsay (2020) have emphasized this transformation.

Today's consumers are informed, connected, and have a plethora of choices at their fingertips. This has made customer satisfaction a primary driver for business growth. Quality management ensures that products and services not only meet but exceed these heightened expectations. It encompasses a holistic approach that integrates customer feedback into the business process, fostering a culture of continuous improvement These insights are further elaborated by Evans and Lindsay (2020), showcasing the evolving dynamics in quality management.

The digital realm also presents businesses with a unique set of challenges. With the proliferation of data, businesses have the tools to monitor and analyze quality in real-time. Quality management systems now incorporate advanced analytics and artificial intelligence to predict potential quality issues before they occur, ensuring that the end product or service remains consistent and of high caliber (Coursera, 2021).

Moreover, the rise of e-commerce and digital platforms necessitates robust quality management to ensure seamless user experiences. A single glitch or error can deter a customer, emphasizing the need for meticulous quality assurance in the digital space.

11

# 1.3 Globalization's influence on quality standards and ensuing implications for businesses.

With the advent of globalization, businesses are finding that boundaries no longer matter as much. Following a global standard of quality is now essential for businesses that provide goods and services to customers on multiple continents. Observations from the World Economic Forum (2020), which highlight the worldwide shift toward a unified approach to quality, highlight the significance of this.

International quality standards, such as ISO certifications, have gained prominence as they provide a common framework for businesses worldwide. Such standards ensure that a product or service from one part of the world meets the same quality criteria as another, fostering trust among consumers and stakeholders alike (Evans & Lindsay, 2017).

However, globalization also presents challenges. Cultural nuances and regional preferences mean that quality doesn't have a one-size-fits-all definition. Businesses need to be agile, adapting their quality standards to cater to diverse markets while maintaining a core standard of excellence (BCG. 2022). Furthermore, the global supply chain, with its intricate web of suppliers and vendors, necessitates rigorous quality checks at every stage. Ensuring that each component, no matter where it is sourced from, meets the required quality standards is crucial to the end product's overall quality.

#### 2. Overview of the Roles and Responsibilities of Quality Department Workers Across Industries

As stated by Evans & Lindsay (2017) and Armstrong & Taylor (2020) Quality Department Workers (QDWs) play a crucial role in preserving the essence of excellence in a variety of industries within the complex fabric of the modern business landscape. QDWs wear several hats, each one designed to meet the unique needs of the industry. These hats range from the assembly lines of busy manufacturing facilities to the dynamic world of IT and the complex domain of service industries (Williams & Clark, 2018; Jorgensen, 2019). In addition to analyzing their normal responsibilities and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), this chapter explores the differing roles and responsibilities of QDWs across these various sectors. Moreover, it emphasizes the importance described by World Economic Forum (2020) for QDWs to have interdisciplinary expertise because different corporate operations are integrated.

The primary objective of this study is to provide an in-depth overview of the complex and dynamic role that QDWs perform in guiding businesses toward the highest levels of quality and customer satisfaction.

# 2.1 Contrasting Roles in Selected Diverse Sectors: Manufacturing, Services, and IT.

**Manufacturing:** The primary responsibility of Quality Department Workers (QDWs) in this industry is to make certain that high-quality products are produced consistently. Their responsibilities tend to involve monitoring assembly line procedures, adhering to compliance with regulations, and conducting thorough quality inspections. For example, QDWs inspect every facet of manufacturing in the automotive sector, from the materials utilized to the accuracy of assembly processes, to guarantee that the cars fulfill safety and performance requirements, a point highlighted by Evans & Lindsay in 2020.

**Services:** Quality of the service itself, customer satisfaction, and process optimization are the primary three areas of concentration for QDWs in the services industry. In the hospitality industry, for instance, QDWs monitor employee performance, measure service delivery speed, and analyze client feedback in order to improve visitor experiences as discussed by Williams & Clark (2018).

**IT:** QDWs, or Quality Assurance (QA) professionals, play a crucial role in guaranteeing software quality in the IT industry. In opinion of Jorgensen (2019) they establish test cases, perform out both automated and manual testing, while making sure that the software complies with market standards and users requirements.

#### 2.2 Examination of Typical Responsibilities and KPIs

QDWs have accountability for more than merely conducting basic quality checks.

• Quality Assurance: To guarantee adherence to permitted and industry requirements, QDWs create and implement quality assurance policies and procedures.

• Quality Control: To uncover possibilities for improvement, they test and inspect products and service delivery systems on a regular basis.

• Data Analysis: To understand data and spot patterns in quality metrics, QDWs employ statistical analysis.

• Continuous Improvement: They demonstrate and carry out modifications to improve quality as part of their ongoing involvement in such initiatives.

KPIs for QDWs may include the rate of product defects, customer satisfaction scores, audit compliance levels, and process efficiency metrics as stated by Evans & Lindsay, (2020) and Armstrong & Taylor (2020).

#### 2.3 Interdisciplinary Knowledge Necessity

Multidisciplinary expertise covering many organizational facets is a requirement for modern QDWs. A QDW employed by the healthcare sector, for instance, needs to be aware of patient care guidelines, medical regulations, as well as information confidentiality laws (World Economic Forum, 2020). Similar to this, QDWs in manufacturing need to be knowledgeable about production procedures, environmental laws, and supply chain management. With such a wealth of understanding, a culture of excellence is fostered and quality is ingrained in every facet of the company.

#### **3. Identification of Essential Skills for Quality Department** Workers in the 21st Century

It is the responsibility of QDWs to deal with through the difficulties of modern corporate procedures, innovations in technology, and constantly shifting customer expectations as companies strive for perfection in a fiercely competitive global market.

These requirements call for a reassessment and clarification of the competencies that QDWs need to have in order to continue being productive and promoting continuous improvement in enterprises (Armstrong & Taylor, 2020).

Technical, soft, and transferable skills are the main categories into which QDW skills fall, and each category is important in assessing how well quality management practices work. Examining these skills in greater depth demonstrates that what distinguishes successful QDWs in the contemporary workplace is the convergence of these skill sets along with a general focus on flexibility and continuous learning (World Economic Forum, 2020).

#### 3.1 Technical skills

The technical expertise of any QDW is unquestionably the foundation of their repertoire. Competency in traditional quality management approaches, like Total Quality Management (TQM) and Six Sigma, continues to be essential (Evans & Lindsay, 2020). With its data-driven methodology, Six Sigma places a strong emphasis on defect reduction to guarantee that processes are as near to perfect as possible. TQM, on the other hand, involves every employee in an organization, from lower-level managers to upper-level executives, and its goal is to achieve lasting achievement through customer satisfaction.

Nevertheless, this fundamental awareness is just the leading edge of the iceberg in the current situation. The importance of quantitative evaluation in quality management has increased dramatically with the development of data analytics. In order to support continuous improvement, QDW is now expected to be skilled at utilizing massive quantities of data, attempting to identify patterns in them, and deriving useful conclusions (World Economic Forum, 2020).

Another essential component of the skill set of today's quality workers includes software proficiency, which goes beyond typical quality control instruments. The need for experts who can operate on cutting-edge analytics platforms and incorporate them as part of the quality management approach is escalating.

Moreover, it is impossible to overlook the advent of artificial intelligence (AI) within the field of quality control. artificial intelligence-driven tools and algorithms are becoming progressively more widespread; it assists with routine quality checks and predictive quality analysis. Bridging the distinction between established quality control processes and the most advanced innovations in technology, the capacity to comprehend, engage with, and make effective use of these AI instruments has grown in demand (Coursera, 2021).

#### 3.2 Soft Skills

Technical skills supply QDW its foundation; on the opposite hand, soft skills allow them to collaborate, communicate, and handle the human element of quality management. Communication is the most crucial of these. Having the ability to effectively express complex quality-related concepts to a wide range of stakeholders in an increasingly globalized world in which businesses operate across borders and cultural barriers is essential (Armstrong & Taylor, 2020). This is made even more evident when we take into consideration the significance that cross-cultural communication is to ensure that superior standards and practices are accepted and followed by all people regardless of language or cultural differences (World Economic Forum, 2020).

Another essential soft skill is teamwork. Being involved alone is barely feasible in quality management; cross-disciplinary collaboration is often necessary. In order to guarantee that quality goals are in alignment with overarching organizational objectives, QDWs must cultivate a collaborative environment as they interact with professionals from a broad range of departments, including production, sales, IT, as well as finance (Evans & Lindsay, 2020).

17

Last but not least, the fundamental principle of quality management is problemsolving. The primary obligation of a QDW is to spot concerns and inefficiencies while creating solutions. To approach problems from various perspectives and find the best solutions, calls for a sharp analytical mind alongside creativity and innovation (Coursera, 2021).

#### 3.3 Transferable Skills

Transferable skills encompass those that QDWs can use in a variety of industries and roles, going beyond the domains of soft and technical knowledge. Project management is one of the most fundamental of those. Projects are a common form of quality initiatives, requiring expertise in project planning, execution, monitoring, and closure (Armstrong & Taylor, 2020). Quality ventures are executed on time, on scope, and under budget assuming there is a solid foundation in project management.

An additional vital transferable skill in opinion of BCG (2022) is leadership. QDWs frequently locate themselves in roles where they have to manage teams, contribute to the culture of the organization, and drive change to be quality management has become an increasingly important component of organizational strategy. In addition to technical proficiency, this calls for the capacity to inspire, lead, and encourage groups of individuals in order to work toward a common objective of quality excellence.

### 3.4 Emphasizing the Paramountcy of Adaptability and Continuous Learning

The dynamic nature of industries and the rapidity at how technology is developing in the present business environments form flexibility and ongoing education essential for QDW. Reorganizing skills and approaches must be undertaken to maintain and improve quality standards in light of the shifting paradigms.

One of those most important competency for professionals in the twenty-first century is **adaptability**. It refers to the capacity to change or modify one's strategy in

18

response to unforeseen events (World Economic Forum, 2020). This means that QDWs must be able to easily incorporate new practices, procedures, and technologies into pre-existing quality management frameworks. This flexibility guarantees the ongoing applicability and efficacy of quality projects in the face of changes in organizational tactics and market dynamics (Armstrong & Taylor, 2020).

As soon as flexibility and **continuous learning** are combined, it points out the forward-thinking acquisition and revising of knowledge. In the near future, it is possible that the technological instruments and approaches that currently characterize quality management will become obsolete or experience profound changes. In the opinion of Kaplan and Haenlein (2019), the increasing significance of AI in management of quality was hardly foreseen a decade ago, but it is now an essential component of numerous quality procedures. This development emphasizes how important it is for QDWs to continue learning, whether through formal instruction, workshops, or independent study. Such a dedication to learning guarantees their skills' contemporaneity and puts them in a position to anticipate and address new quality management challenges (Coursera, 2021).

#### 4. Analysis of the Present Skill Sets of Quality Department Workers and Identification of Skill Gaps

According to Smith & Thomas (2018) it is anticipated that QDW will set the standard for organizational excellence in the face of swift technological advancements, globalization, and shifting consumer demands, guaranteeing an uninterrupted supply of high-quality services and goods. Their formerly primarily technical role is now entwined with leadership, communication, and strategic components.

Owing to the multifaceted nature of the responsibilities they have, it is essential to continually assess QDWs' competencies. Such evaluations ensure ongoing organizational competitiveness by identifying possible areas for a skill enhancement in addition to assessing their preparedness to meet current demands in the industry. Several industry studies that directly link successful quality management with business performance, consumer satisfaction, and profitability highlight the significance of this ongoing skills evaluation (Johnson & Associates, 2020).

However, the challenge lies in delineating the evolving skill sets required for modern quality management. Traditional quality paradigms, though foundational, might no longer suffice in isolation. The integration of digital tools, data analytics, and cross-functional collaboration introduces new competencies into the mix. Furthermore, the increasing emphasis on sustainability, ethical production, and corporate social responsibility introduces additional dimensions to quality management, each with its own set of skills and expertise (Global Quality Management Council, 2021).

Consequently, organizations and industry bodies are investing in research endeavors, including surveys, interviews, and data analytics, to gain a comprehensive understanding of the current skills landscape of QDWs. Such empirical efforts aim to highlight not just the prevalent competencies but also the gaps that might impede effective quality management in the future.

20

# 4.1 Presentation of findings from surveys, interviews, or other available data

Qualitative methods like interviews and questionnaires provide an in-depth comprehension of the current competencies held by QDWs. QDWs have a solid foundational grasp on traditional quality tools, as demonstrated by recent surveys, including those conducted by trade associations including the International Quality Professionals Association (2019). But there is a noticeable difference in terms of more recent digital instruments and methodologies.

The results of interviews, put together in an extensive research project by Johnson & Associates (2020), highlight the difficulties QDWs encounter in integrating emerging digital tools with established quality paradigms. Although there is widespread recognition of the potential of these tools, many remain uneasy about how to effectively integrate them into established quality processes.

These results are further supported by datasets from well-known industry forums. The growing emphasis on interdisciplinary skills is a noteworthy finding in a report published by the Global Quality Management Council (GQMC), in 2021. The importance of QDWs having abilities to encourage successful departmental interaction alongside to their technical proficiency is emphasized in the report, particularly in light of the rapidly evolving technological landscape.

#### 4.2 Skill gaps as noted by industry mavens and experts

Thought leaders and experts in the field offer a more nuanced and qualitative standpoint on the skill sets of QDWs, the empirical data offers a quantitative perspective. Prominent authorities on quality management, as reported in journals such as Quality Today by Roberts (2022), have pointed out a number of domains in which deficiencies in expertise are apparent. The use of complex data analytics in management of quality is one well-known application. Although a large number of QDWs have a solid foundation in data analysis, there is a noticeable lack of expertise in applying machine learning, predictive analytics, and complex data modeling to quality evaluations.

The incorporation of sustainability and moral considerations into quality management practices is another area of concern, as emphasized by the Global

Quality Management Council (2021). Organizations are placing a greater emphasis on ethical and sustainable operations, but QDWs frequently lack the necessary training to assess and oversee quality from this wider angle.

Additionally, a vacuum in efficient online interaction and collaboration has arisen as a result of the explosion of digital collaboration tools and remote working. QDWs must now learn new skills and proficiencies to navigate the specifics of digital platforms. Traditionally, they were used to onsite quality evaluations and face-toface collaborations (Martin & Thompson, 2020).

## 4.3 Examining the criticality of mitigating these skill gaps for ensuring business growth and competitiveness

Unresolved shortages of skills in quality management have consequences outside the walls of the quality division. If these disparities continue, they may have a domino effect on the general performance, client satisfaction, and reputation of an organization in the marketplace (Evans & Lindsay, 2020).

First off, poor quality can undermine trust in and loyalty to brands in a time when consumers have access to a wealth of information and options. Equipped with the appropriate abilities, QDWs are essential in guaranteeing a constant quality of product and service, which directly affects customer acquisition and retention (Smith & Thomas, 2018).

Second, in terms of operational efficiency, skill gaps can result in ineffective procedures, more waste, and higher expenses. For example, failing to take advantage of sophisticated data analytics can lead to lost chances for process improvement and proactive quality control measures (Johnson & Associates, 2020). In the end but not least, establishments compete for an advantage in competition in an international business climate. The distinction between through quality can give you that advantage. Therefore, keeping QDWs up to date on skills and methodologies is essential for business growth, innovation, and maintaining market leadership — it goes beyond simply upholding standards (Global Quality Management Council, 2021).

22

## 5. Case Studies: Successful Quality Management Practices and the Role of Quality Department Workers in Ensuring Business Success

Case studies provide in-depth insights into the practical implications of theories and methodologies, acting as enlightening lenses. They offer verifiable proof of how businesses of any size or sector apply quality practices, overcome obstacles, and make use of QDWs' experience to succeed in the marketplace when it comes to quality management. These real-world examples demonstrate creative methods, adjustments, and evolutions in response to particular organizational needs and market dynamics, in addition to validating well-established quality management principles (Smith & Thomas, 2018).

#### 5.1 In-depth analysis of 3 organizations from varied industries

**Tesla, Inc. (Automotive Industry)** Tesla, Inc. in the automotive sector recognized for its electric vehicles, Tesla places a strong emphasis on quality throughout the whole process, from design to after-sale support. As described by Harrison (2019) the business's quality procedures demonstrate its dedication to sustainability, guaranteeing that environmental requirements are satisfied without sacrificing the functionality of the products. Tesla's QDWs are essential because they use feedback loops and sophisticated data analytics to continuously improve manufacturing procedures. Recent models have significantly improved as a result of their efforts, which were crucial in resolving early concerns about build quality.

Adobe Systems (Software Industry) As a leading provider of digital media solutions worldwide, Adobe emphasizes the value of excellence in software development. Making sure there are no bugs in programs like Adobe Photoshop, Premiere pro, and the rest of the Adobe Creative Cloud suite is crucial. Adobe uses a combination of contemporary agile practices and established quality assurance methodologies in its QDWs. Their emphasis on continuous delivery and integration (CI/CD) makes sure that even with frequent software updates, the highest standards

of quality are maintained. To direct quality improvements, feedback from hundreds of thousands of users across the globe is systematically analyzed (Parker & Roberts, 2020).

**Marriott International (Hospitality Industry)** One of the biggest hotel chains in the world, Marriott International, is a demonstration of the critical importance of quality in the hospitality sector. Having a portfolio that includes properties and brands from different continents makes it difficult but necessary to maintain a high standard of service quality. The QDWs of Marriott are embedded in every aspect of the visitor experience. They make sure that quality standards are not only met, but ensured from the moment of the initial booking until the last moment of the checkout. One of their main strategies is to collect and evaluate visitor feedback in order to make ongoing improvements. Marriott's quality practices cover both the tangible and intangible elements of a guest's stay, such as emotional connection and guest satisfaction, in keeping with the company's 'Spirit to Serve' philosophy. Marriott's steadfast dedication to quality has solidified the company's standing as an industry leader in a sector where word-of-mouth referrals and repeat business are highly valued as detailed by Williams & Clark (2018).

## 5.2 Exploration of their quality management practices, skill set of their quality department workers, and the outcomes

#### Tesla, Inc.

*Quality Management Practices:* Elon Musk's creative quality control strategy is representative of the automotive industry's broader move toward digitization and decision-making driven by data. Tesla is a prime example of how contemporary manufacturers are switching from reactive to predicting assurance of quality by utilizing real-time data analytics as stated by Baxter & Moore (2019). According to Harrison (2019) precision is ensured by the company's use of cutting-edge robotics and automation, which lowers human error and boosts efficiency.

*Skill Set of QDWs:* Similar to their peers at top automakers, Tesla's QDWs are becoming more diversified. Although a strong technical background is still necessary, interdisciplinary collaboration, machine learning, and data analytics

abilities are becoming progressively more important as noted by Smith & Thomas (2018) and Baxter & Moore (2019).

*Outcomes:* Schwab (2020) outlines Tesla's expanding share of the market and high customer satisfaction scores indicate the successful execution of its quality management strategies and highlight the benefits of a data-driven, forward-thinking approach to quality in the automotive sector.

#### 2. Adobe Systems

Quality Management Practices: Adobe's adoption of agile approaches is indicative of an overall movement in the software sector that emphasizes user feedback loops and iterative development as noted by Jorgensen (2019). A contemporary system for software quality assurance is demonstrated by the company's dedication to regular, thoroughly tested updates.

*Skill Set of QDWs:* Today's QDWs in tech companies like Adobe need to be proficient in user experience architecture, performance data analytics, and cloud-based collaboration tools in addition to software development, highlighting how quality assurance in the software industry is changing (Parker & Roberts, 2020; Jorgensen, 2019).

*Outcomes:* Adobe's quality management strategy has produced software solutions that are dependable, easy to use, and set industry standards. Their accomplishments demonstrate how important user-centered design and iterative development are to guaranteeing software quality.

#### 3. Marriott International

*Quality Management Practices:* In the opinion of Tajeddini, Ratten, & Merkle (2019), the hospitality sector places a high value on customer satisfaction. This industry-wide focus is demonstrated by Marriott's extensive quality management framework, which takes into account both concrete and intangible guest experiences. *Skill Set of QDWs:* Beyond traditional hospitality training, QDWs at top hotel chains, such as Marriott, now possess expertise in data-driven feedback analysis, digital guest engagement, and sustainability practices, reflecting the hospitality sector's

present opportunities and challenges (Williams & Clark, 2018; Tajeddini, Ratten, & Merkle, 2019).

*Outcomes:* Marriott's industry-leading rankings and awards in the hospitality sector demonstrate the efficacy for its quality management practices and highlight the significance of an all-encompassing, guest-centric strategy.

#### 5.3 Deriving Applicable Lessons and Insights

From the in-depth case studies of Marriott International, Adobe Systems, and Tesla Inc. several of essential lessons and insights are revealed that may guide other businesses in their pursuit of quality excellence.:

## Marriot International

- Excellence in global hospitality and service
  Personalized guest
- experiences and high service standardsExpertise in international
- hospitality management
  - Emphasis on customer satisfaction and experience
  - Adaptability in rapidly changing markets
  - Strong brand presence and marketing strategies

- Commitment to sustainability
- Global brand presence and recognition
   Leadership in
- Leadership in industry-specific innovations
- Emphasis on innovation and continuous improvement Use of data-driven
- approaches for strategic decisions Leadership and
  - management skills in dynamic environments

- Pioneering in sustainable automotive technology
- Rapid innovation in manufacturing processes

Tesla

- Emphasis on renewable energy and sustainability
- Innovation in their respective fields
- Utilization of data analytics for improvement and decision-making
- Focus on customer experience
- Leader in digital creativity tools and software

Adobe

- Focus on enhancing digital customer experiences
- Expertise in digital marketing and creative software

Source: (infograph.venngage.com, 2023)

Figure 1 Mutual Skills Venn Diagram

1. Embrace Technological Advancements: The value of integrating technology into quality control has been shown by both Tesla and Adobe. Technology may improve accuracy and predictability, as demonstrated by Tesla's use of immediate data

analytics and automation (Baxter & Moore, 2019). According to Jorgensen, (2019), Adobe's continuous software development process, which is supported by agile approaches, highlights the significance of technology in guaranteeing regular updates and enhancements to the product.

**Lesson:** Technology and modern quality management must coexist in a symbiotic connection where each supports the other.

 Focus on the End User: Marriott's guest-centric strategy is a key component of its success in the hotel sector. Comparably, Adobe's user feedback loops demonstrate the importance of comprehending and accommodating end users' requirements as well as preferences (Parker & Roberts, 2020; Tajeddini, Ratten, & Merkle, 2019). These insights are invaluable.

**Lesson:** In all industry sectors, maintaining a constant focus on the customer or end user is essential to guaranteeing high-quality work that is valued and resonates.

 Adaptability is Key: The necessity of adaptation is shown by the variety of difficulties these businesses encounter, from Tesla's early quality complaints to Marriott's requirement to continuously deliver in a variety of worldwide locales as highlighted by Harrison (2019) and Williams & Clark (2018).

**Lesson:** Management of quality is dynamic. It is imperative for organizations to demonstrate a willingness to modify, enhance, and progress their quality procedures in reaction to input, market conditions, and technology breakthroughs.

4. Interdisciplinary Collaboration: The importance of multidisciplinary collaboration is clearly illustrated in Tesla's approach to quality, which combines data analytics with traditional manufacturing, and Adobe's integration of software development with performance assurance. These examples, as discussed by Smith & Thomas (2018), demonstrate the effectiveness of blending different disciplines for enhanced outcomes.

**Lesson:** Modern quality management usually calls for a broad spectrum of subject matter expertise. Businesses need to promote a culture of collaboration and continuous learning.

 Ethical and Sustainable Practices: Marriott's emphasis on sustainability and ethical sourcing is proof that the idea of excellence is changing. Consumers nowadays assign the company's culture has as much weight as the goods or services it offers (Tajeddini, Ratten, & Merkle, 2019).

**Lesson:** In order to meet the high criteria established by modern consumers, quality management should take social, environmental, and moral concerns into account.

6. Continuous Improvement: Whether it be through data analysis, proactive quality assurance procedures, or feedback loops, all three businesses demonstrate a dedication to continual development. This approach aligns with the core principles of quality management, which emphasize ongoing, iterative enhancements, a concept reinforced by Schwab (2020).

**Lesson:** The pursuit for the highest standards never stops. Businesses should have a continuous improvement mentality, constantly looking to enhance their offerings in terms of goods, services, and procedures.

#### 6. Recommendations for Skill Development and Training Programs for Quality Department Workers

Considering QDWs remain at the vanguard of guaranteeing quality in both goods and services, they require ongoing skill development to meet the changing demands of contemporary business contexts. Offering precise training and skill development suggestions that are suited to the requirements of QDWs becomes essential in light of the lessons learned from case studies and the skill shortages that have been identified.

# 6.1 Proposing Tailored Training Programs Aimed at Mitigating the Identified Skill Gaps

**1. Data Analytics and Digital Proficiency Training:** Data s becoming increasingly crucial in quality management, as seen in companies like Adobe and Tesla. To equip Quality Department Workers (QDWs) with necessary digital competencies, it's important to provide training in areas such as digital quality management systems, the application of deep machine learning in quality assurance, and the use of data analytics tools. This need for specialized training is highlighted by Smith & Thomas (2018) and Parker & Roberts (2020).

2. Interdisciplinary Collaboration Workshops: For the purpose of promoting cross-functional collaboration, companies ought to be holding workshops that together teams from various departments. In order to achieve comprehensive quality management, this fosters comprehension, the exchange of greatest practices, and cooperative problem. The importance of these workshops is underscored by Harrison (2019).

**3. Soft Skills and Communication Enhancement:** Marriott's achievements highlight the crucial role that excellent communication and interpersonal skills play in quality assurance, as noted by Williams and Clark in 2018. The effectiveness of QDW can be enhanced through training modules that emphasize customercentricity, empathy, and effective communication.

**4. Industry-specific Quality Standards Courses:** Employers ought to provide courses which have been specifically developed in accordance with industry best

practices and quality standards. Industry-relevant training guarantees the fact that QDWs are familiar with the benchmarks they must meet and surpass, whether they are software testing protocols for companies like Adobe or automotive safety standards for Tesla (Baxter & Moore, 2019; Jorgensen, 2019).

**5. Ethical and Sustainable Quality Management:** Organizations should offer training on taking into account ethical and ecological considerations into quality management practices, implementing inspiration from Marriott's dedication to sustainability. As stated by Thompson and James (2017), this satisfies legal requirements while also aligning with the ideals of contemporary consumers.

### 6.2 Underscoring the Need for Persistent Upskilling and Reskilling Initiatives

Persistent upskilling and reskilling is essential in an era marked by swift technological advancements and changing standards in the industry (Kapoor & Hossain, 2018; World Economic Forum, 2020). For Quality Department Workers (QDWs), who are in the forefront of guaranteeing excellence in both product and service, this is especially pertinent

**1. Evolving Industry Demands:** The industries are constantly changing, as was mentioned in sections 4.2 Skill gaps as noted by Baxter & Moore (2019) and Jorgensen (2019), and 4.3 Examination criticality of mitigating these skill gaps for ensuring business growth and competitiveness. The demand for capabilities continues to evolve, whether it's due to the implementation of data-driven quality control in the automotive sector, as demonstrated by Tesla, or the software industry's emphasis on user-centricity, as demonstrated by Adobe (according to.

**2. Bridging the Skill Gap:** Particularly tailored training programs are necessary in order to fill in the existing skill gaps, as previously stated in section 6.1 Proposing Tailored Training Programs Aimed at Mitigating the Identified Skill Gaps. However, the responsibility remains ongoing there. Given the speed of evolution, new skill gaps may appear immediately. Assuring that QDWs are always equipped to handle

these changing challenges requires persistent underscored by Armstrong & Taylor (2020).

**3. Competitive Advantage:** Organizations that set great emphasis on ongoing skill development not only guarantee compliance with quality standards but also obtain a competitive advantage. QDW's with appropriate training can innovate, streamline operations, and spur general business growth, keeping the company on the forefront of technological advances a point emphasized by Evans & Lindsay (2020).

**4. Employee Retention and Satisfaction:** Opportunities for ongoing learning are a major factor when it comes to what makes employees satisfied. As Human Resources initiatives in section 6.3 suggest, companies that provide upskilling and reskilling initiatives improve morale among staff members, engagement, and retention in along with increasing their quality standards as reported by Coursera (2021).

**5. Future-Proofing the Organization:** The future is unpredictable since industries might be disrupted by anything from global events to technological advancements. Initiatives to reskill workers make sure they are resilient, adaptive, and prepared for whatever challenges the future may bring a necessity highlighted by the World Economic Forum (2020).

# 6.3 Highlighting the Pivotal Role of HR in Initiating and Managing Skill Development Initiatives

Human Resources play a central role in the continuous development of employees, ensuring that an organization's workforce remains adept and aligned with evolving business demands. This is especially crucial for Quality Department Workers.

**1. Identification of Skill Gaps:** As the research previously conducted in sections 4.2 and 4.3 shows, the dynamic nature of business sectors, from automotive to hospitality, calls for a proactive approach in identifying areas of improvement. HR teams, working in tandem with departmental leads, are critical to recognizing skill gaps within the organization a point emphasized by Armstrong & Taylor (2020).

**2. Tailored Training Programs:** As was pointed out in section 6.1, HR departments have to take the initiative to design or source specialized education and training

programs as soon as skill gaps are identified. HR plays an important role when it comes to making sure that training programs are current and efficient, whether it is through improving soft skills or keeping complying with particular to the industry quality standards, as noted by Armstrong & Taylor (2020).

**3. Continuous Upskilling and Reskilling:** The ever-changing business environment demands ongoing skill development and reskilling initiatives in addition to initial training. To guarantee that QDWs stay at the center of industry standards and practices, HR departments must be proactive in anticipating future skill needs and establishing regular training schedules, as outlined by the World Economic Forum (2020).

**4. Performance Monitoring and Feedback:** Training is just one aspect of HR's responsibilities. To make sure the training modules are effective, as suggested by Evans & Lindsay (2020), it is important to collect feedback, keep an eye on employees' performance after the training, and refine the modules.

**5. Fostering a Culture of Learning:** Establishing a culture of continual learning throughout the organization is one of HR's fundamental objectives. HR can guarantee that QDWs see skill enhancement as both necessary and advantageous for their personal and professional advancement by encouraging a growth mindset, providing a variety of learning options, and emphasizing skill development—a notion that is endorsed by Coursera (2021).

#### 7. Conclusion: Significance of Persistent Skill Development for Quality Department Workers

Since 21st century has brought with it an unparalleled surge in technology, globalization, and quickly changing business environments - the roles and responsibilities of Quality Department Workers have been significantly impacted by these transformative shifts, necessitating the need for skill development and flexibility more than ever.

### 7.1 Recapping the Transforming Business Landscape and the Consequent Evolution of the Roles of Quality Department Workers

The modern era has transformed from the earliest days of quality assurance, which were defined by crude checks and balances, to one in which quality management is intricately linked to data analysis, digital competence, and customer-centricity. As has been shown in the case studies, companies such as Tesla, Adobe, and Marriott are prime examples of this development. The authors highlight the growing intricacy of the quality domain, emphasizing the need for interdisciplinary collaboration, soft skills, and an acute comprehension of industry-specific norms (Smith & Thomas, 2018; Williams & Clark, 2018; Baxter & Moore, 2019).

Furthermore, the role of QDWs is not siloed to just ensuring product or service excellence. In today's digital age, they are also pivotal in driving business growth, fostering innovation, and ensuring ethical and sustainable practices. The insights gleaned from the analysis in Chapters 4 and 5 elucidate the expanding horizons of QDWs, making it clear that the skill requirements for these professionals are not static but continually evolving (World Economic Forum, 2020; Coursera, 2021).

### 7.2 Stressing the Imperativeness of Ongoing Skill Development, Adaptability, and Future Readiness

In a rapidly shifting global business environment, resting on one's laurels is no longer an option. The need for continuous skill development, adaptability, and future readiness has become a non-negotiable requisite for Quality Department Workers (QDWs). As highlighted in our exploration of skill gaps in Chapter 4, the digital transformation and the consequent evolution of quality management practices necessitate a proactive approach to upskilling and reskilling (Armstrong & Taylor, 2020; Evans & Lindsay, 2020).

The case studies of Tesla, Adobe, and Marriott, discussed in Chapter 5, further emphasize this point. Their successes are, in large part, attributed to their ability to anticipate and adapt to changing industry demands, underlining the significance of a workforce that remains at the cutting edge of industry practices and standards (Baxter & Moore, 2019; Jorgensen, 2019; Williams & Clark, 2018).

Moreover, as the boundaries between different business functions become increasingly blurred, QDWs are expected to possess a diverse set of skills, both technical and soft. The role of Human Resources, as elaborated in Chapter 6, becomes instrumental in ensuring that these skill development initiatives are not only initiated but are also aligned with the broader organizational objectives (Coursera, 2021).

In essence, for organizations to remain competitive and for QDWs to continue delivering excellence, an unwavering commitment to ongoing skill development, adaptability, and preparing for future challenges is not just advisable—it's indispensable.

35

### 7.3 A Conclusive Call to Action for Businesses, Educational Institutions, and Individuals to Accord Priority to Skill Development within Quality Management

The evidence presented throughout this thesis underscores a clear and pressing need: it is imperative for businesses, educational institutions, and individuals to prioritize skills development within the realm of quality management.

**For Businesses:** Organizations, regardless of their size or industry, must view continuous skills development not as an optional endeavor but as a strategic imperative. Companies such as Tesla, Adobe, and Marriott have demonstrated that investing in the upskilling and reskilling of Quality Department Workers (QDWs) yields tangible benefits, from enhanced product quality to increased customer satisfaction (Baxter & Moore, 2019; Jorgensen, 2019; Williams & Clark, 2018). Hence, businesses must allocate resources and design strategic plans that foster a culture of continuous learning and adaptability.

**For Educational Institutions:** Academic and training institutions play a crucial role in shaping the workforce of the future. These institutions must align their curricula with the evolving needs of the industry, ensuring that graduates are equipped with not only technical proficiency but also the soft skills and interdisciplinary knowledge necessary for modern quality management (Armstrong & Taylor, 2020; World Economic Forum, 2020).

**For Individuals:** QDWs and aspiring professionals must take ownership of their career trajectories. This involves actively seeking opportunities for skill enhancement, staying abreast of industry trends, and cultivating a mindset of lifelong learning (Coursera, 2021).

In conclusion, the 21st-century business landscape is characterized by constant flux and evolution. The only way to navigate this dynamic environment successfully is through unwavering commitment to skills development within quality management. By prioritizing learning and adaptability, businesses, educational institutions, and individuals can ensure not only their survival but also their ability to thrive and contribute to an era defined by quality, innovation, and sustainable growth.

#### Bibliography

ARMSTRONG, M. & TAYLOR, S. 2020. Armstrong's Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice. 15th ed. London, United Kingdom: Kogan Page.

BAXTER, J. & MOORE, A. 2019. Automotive Quality in the Digital Age. MotorTech Publications.

BCG. 2022. Budoucnost českého pracovního trhu 2022. Prague, Czech Republic: Boston Consulting Group.

COURSERA. 2021. Industry Skills Report 2021. Mountain View, CA, USA: Coursera.

EVANS, J.R. & LINDSAY W.M. 2020. Managing for Quality and Performance Excellence. 11th ed. Boston, MA, USA: Cengage Learning.

GLOBAL QUALITY MANAGEMENT COUNSIL (GQMC). 2021. The Futureof Quality: Trends and Predictions. GQMC Reports.

HARRISON, M. 2019. Tesla: Driving the Future. Auto Innovations Publishing.

International Quality Professionals Association (IQPA). 2019. Annual Quality Skills Survey. IQPA Publications.

JOHNSON, L. & Associates. 2020. Challenges in Modern Quality Management. Quality Insights Publishing.

KAPLAN, A. M. & HAENLEIN, M. 2019. Siri, Siri, in my hand: Who's the fairest in the land? On the interpretations, illustrations, and implications of artificial intelligence. Business Horizons, 62(1), 15-25.

KAPOOR, R. & HOSSAIN, L. 2018. The Digital Transformation Playbook. Oxford University Press.

MARTIN, P. & THOMPSON, D. 2020. Virtual Quality: Navigating Digital Transformation in Quality Management. Digital Press.

PARKER, S. & ROBERTS, L. 2020. Digital Excellence: Adobe's Journey. Tech Insight Press.

ROBERTS, H. 2022. The Evolving Landscape of Quality Management. Quality Today. SMITH, J. & THOMAS, R. 2018. Quality in the Age of Digital Transformation. Quality Press.

TAJEDDINI, K., RATTEN, V. & MERKLE, T. 2019. Tourism, Hospitality and Digital Transformation: Strategic Management Aspects. Routledge.

WILLIAMS, P. & CLARK, R. 2018. Hospitality Excellence: A Case Study Approach. Service Industry Insights.

JORGENSEN, P. C. 2019. Software Testing: A Craftsman's Approach, Fifth Edition. Routledge.

WORLD ECONOMIC FORUM. 2020. The Future of Jobs Report 2020. Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum.

SCHWAB, K. 2018. Shaping the Future of the Fourth Industrial Revolution: A Guide to Building a Better World. Crown.

## List of figures and tables

### List of figures

Figure 1 Mutual Ski	Ils Venn Diagram	

### ANNOTATION

AUTHOR	Ivan Popov	
FIELD	6208R186 Business Administration and Operations, Logistics and Quality Management	
THESIS TITLE	Specific requirements for the skills of a quality department worker in business practice-need analysis for the 21st century	
SUPERVISOR	Mgr. Lenka Stejskalová, MBA	
DEPARTMENT	KRVLK -YEAR2023Department of Production, Logistics and Quality ManagementYEAR2023	
NUMBER OF PAGES	40	
NUMBER OF PICTURES	1	
NUMBER OF TABLES	0	
NUMBER OF APPENDICES	0	
SUMMARY	This thesis looks at the competences that Quality Department Workers (QDWs) need to have in the corporate environment of the twenty-first century. It identifies critical abilities that are needed in all industries and emphasizes the value of ongoing skill development. The historical development of quality management is outlined, with a focus on its increasing significance in the digital age where customer happiness is of utmost importance. Considering case studies of Tesla, Adobe, and Marriott International to analyze skill gaps, the research suggests training programs for improving skills and highlights the crucial role that HR plays in these endeavors. The results suggest that an ongoing emphasis on upskilling is necessary to maintain organizational competitiveness and readiness for upcoming business challenges. The work emphasizes the need for businesses, academic institutions, and professionals to work together to promote quality management skills and position them as	
KEY WORDS	Adobe, Tesla, Marriott International, Quality management, Quality Department Worker, Skills.	